Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-11-2015

Union Bank, N.A. v. JV L.L.C. Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42479

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) NATURE OF THE CASE.

The First National Bank hereinafter "Bank" brought this action to foreclose on a 5.0 million dollar mortgage recorded March 25, 2008 against the landowner, Pend Oreille Bonner Development, hereinafter "POBD". The real estate was called Lake Front on Pend Oreille Lake in Bonner County, located at "Trestle Creek", which will be used to describe the real estate at issue. The owner, PODB, let the action go to default/judgment. There were several other Defendants, one being JV, LLC who had the first priority Mortgage recorded June 19, 2006 on Trestle Creek and the other Defendant was the vendor who sold to POBD, being identified as North Idaho Resorts, hereinafter "NIR". Bank sought priority over JV by reason of a Subordination Agreement recorded August 6, 2008. This appeal is by JV. NIR has an appeal in this action, but filed under a separate docket number.

(ii) COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS.

The course of the proceedings in the trial and hearing below and its disposition by the District Court involved:

The Bank filed a Complaint and then an Amended

Complaint. JV filed an Answer, Counterclaim, and Cross
Claim. The Counterclaim by JV was to foreclose its June 19,

2006 Mortgage on Trestle Creek.

JV filed a Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, which was denied.

The Bank filed a motion for partial summary judgment, which was granted.

JV moved to amend, alter, and reconsider the partial summary judgment, which was denied. JV sought production of the Debt Restructure Agreement and Settlement Agreement, dated 19 November, 2010, which was denied, except for a redacted version.

The case went to trial; but the District Judge by

Letter denied JV to participate at trial. At trial the

judge announced a bifurcated trial, which did not allow JV

to proceed on its Counterclaim - only on its cross-claim

against NIR. The action was tried and the court rendered

its findings/conclusions and a final judgment was entered in

favor of the Bank, JV filed this Appeal.

(iii) STATEMENT OF FACTS.

JV held the initial first mortgage on Trestle Creek, recorded June 19, 2006, which mortgage was granted by the Trestle Creek owner, POBD. POBD was developing a golf course with Lots to sell at a separate location called the Idaho Club and on a property called Moose Mountain. POBD needed money for the Idaho Club and Moose Mountain, but very little development was going on at Trestle Creek by POBD. POBD had no banking relationship with the Bank, in California. POBD was owned by Reeves 20%, Merschel 40%, and Bolby 40%. Merschel and Bolby had substantial business dealing with the California Bank, so they proceeded to get a short term loan from their Bank in California. Bolby and Merschel arranged for a Bank loan of \$5,000,000 to POBD, by giving personal loan guarantees and by each pledging collateral of cash deposits at the Bank, \$2.5 million each, for a cash collateral pledge of \$5.0 million. California Bank was doing several million dollars of business with Merschel and Bolby, but had no business with There was no real estate collateral mortgage at all. The loan was disbursed by the Bank to POBD's bank in Sandpoint, Idaho by wire transfer. The Bank first deducted some financing fees and some prepaid interest, leaving \$4.5 million as the wire transfer. This occurred about October 29, 2007. This loan was short-term and became due. could not pay the \$5.0 million loan, so to extend the loan

for a term of years the Bank took a mortgage from POBD recorded March 25, 2008, on the Trestle Creek property in The Bank obtained a Loan Policy of Title Insurance Idaho. from First American Title Company of Sandpoint, Idaho. A copy of that Loan Policy was furnished and is in the record of this action. The Loan Policy insured the Bank for its March 25, 2008 loan Trestle Creek, showing it as a second recorded mortgage behind JV's existing June 19, 2006 mortgage for \$2.65 million secured on Trestle Creek, in the Loan Policy by showing as a Special Exception to coverage for item 26 being JV's June 19, 2006 Mortgage. As of the March 25, 2008 mortgage to the Bank, the Bank held the \$5.0 million cash pledges of Merschel and Bolby plus a second mortgage on Trestle Creek. The only loan money disbursed by the Bank was the October 29, 2007 wire transfer of \$4.5 million to POBD's bank account in Idaho. The Bank did not ever disburse any more or further loan money. The Bank disbursed no money for the March 25, 2008 loan secured by its mortgage.

Merschel and Bolby wanted to get their \$5.0 million cash pledge released. The POBD manager in Idaho was Charles Reeves and he went to James Berry the manager of JV to solicit a subordination agreement putting JV's June 19, 2006 mortgage behind the March 25, 2008 Bank Mortgage, Since POBD already had the entire October 29, 2007 loan money, and had granted as additional security the mortgage recorded

March 25, 2008 on Trestle Creek the issue arose of how to turn the Bank's second position mortgage into a first position mortgage, so Herschel and Bolby could get their \$5.0 million cash collateral released. The Bank had no involvement on that matter. To accomplish getting JV to subordinate its 1st lien mortgage securing 2.65 million owed to JV by POBD, Reeves contacted Berry, manager of JV, and made representations that POBD was getting a new loan of \$5.0 million to put into the development of Trestle Creek, condominiums, townhouses, and improvements on the real estate, which would increase Trestle Creek's value and from the sales produce additional income to JV for additional partial mortgage release payments from POBD to JV. POBD and JV negotiated and recorded a two-part Third Amendment to Indebtedness and to Real Estate Security, and Subordination Agreement recorded June 24, 2008 (it is at R., Vol. VI, pp. 1380-1384). Part of that Third Amendment covered Moose Mountain which is not at issue, but for Trestle Creek JV agreed (paragraph 7. b) to subordinate its present first lien priority to "***a new (emphasis added) first lien priority of no more than \$5,000,000.00." The provisions for JV to receive partial mortgage release payments was for \$20,000.00 per condominium and \$20,000.00 per single platted Lots.

The additional promises and representations are explained in the Affidavit of James Berry, plus 3 emails

from POBD's lawyer Sterling. None of these represented facts were true. Attorney Sterling himself prepared another Subordination Agreement, at Reeves' request and emailed it to JV's counsel for Berry. The 3 emails from Sterling were all after the 2007 loan and the 2008 mortgage to the Bank; however, they fraudulently stated that Chuck (Reeves) was working on negotiating a loan from the Bank for \$5,000,000.00. The Subordination Agreement was drawn to look like the Bank was involved and a Bank Officer would sign it. After JV signed, no one from the Bank signed it, the Bank never even saw the Subordination Agreement. POBD never made any payments to the Bank, and when the Bank ordered a foreclosure litigation report in 2010 - the Subordination Agreement showed up as a recorded document. The Bank then seized on the Subordination Agreement and filed this action to foreclose its March 25, 2008 Mortgage. JV defended on it not being "an agreement", it was ambiguous, there was no consideration to JV, and the representation, promises, and facts made through Reeves and Sterling's emails made the Subordination Agreement unenforceable and rescinded.

The facts formed the basis of this lawsuit.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL.

- I. THE DISTRICT JUDGE'S FAILURE TO GRANT JV JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADING IS ERROR.
- II. THE DISTRICT JUDGE'S GRANT OF PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT FOR THE BANK AS TO PRIORITY BASED ON THE SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT, WAS NOT BASED ON UNDISPUTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT, AND THE BANK WAS NOT ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW, SO THE DISTRICT JUDGE ERRED.
- III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING JV'S MOTION TO ALTER/AMEND THE GRANT OF PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AS THE DISTRICT COURT REFUSED TO CONSIDER JV'S ADDITIONAL DOCUMENTS AND EMAIL LETTERS FROM POBD'S ATTORNEY STERLING.
- IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ALLOW JV TO DISCOVER THE DEBT RESTRUCTURE AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, DATED 19 NOVEMBER, 2010 BETWEEN THE BANK, MERSCHEL, AND BOLBY, EXCEPT FOR A REDACTED VERSION.
- V. THE DISTRICT JUDGE'S LETTER, DATED APRIL 30, 2014, IN DENYING JV THE DUE PROCESS OF THE TRIAL, REASONABLE NOTICE AND OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD WAS ERROR BY THE DISTRICT JUDGE.
- VI. THE DISTRICT JUDGE, AT OPENING OF THE TRIAL ANNOUNCED THAT A BIFURCATED TRIAL WOULD BE HELD, DENYING DUE PROCESS TO JV.
- VII. THE ISSUES PRESENTED ABOVE, ISSUES IV, V AND VI, ALL INVOLVED PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS BY THE DISTRICT COURT, CONCERNING THE PROPERTY RIGHTS (JV'S JUNE 19, 2006 MORTGAGE) OF JV.

ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL.

JV does not claim attorney fees on appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT JUDGE'S FAILURE TO GRANT JV JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADING IS ERROR.

The Bank filed a Complaint (R., Vol. I, p. 65) and then a First Amended Complaint (R., Vol. I, p. 122). Both pleadings alleged the Bank's Mortgage was recorded August 6, 2008 and the JV's Mortgage was recorded June 19, 2006. The First Amended Complaint, Factual Allegations, paragraph 32 allege the Bank's Mortgage recording date, (R., Vol. I, p. 128), and in paragraph 42 alleged JV's interest to be a mortgage recorded June 19, 2006 (Tr. Vol. 1, p. 132, paragraph 43).

The First Amended Complaint does not have any factual allegation that JV's Mortgage was "subordinate" to the Bank's Mortgage. The only mention of such a word (subordinate) is in the Bank's Prayer for Relief, was as to its First Claim For Relief, which was merely to reform the legal description, which includes paragraph 3 at the 3rd line down, it states that the interest of every Defendant is "***subject to, subordinate to, and junior to and inferior to Plaintiff's Mortgage as reformed...". (R., Vol. I, p. 135).

As to the Second Claim for Relief (Mortgage Foreclosure) request for relief (prayer) in paragraph 5, seeks "For a determination that the lien created by the Note and Mortgage is valid, enforceable and existing as against

the Defendants and the property described herein, and for a decree of foreclosure." (R., Vol I, p. 135, para 5).

Nowhere does it allege the Bank's Mortgage is of any particular "priority", nor that it is a 1st priority mortgage. A complaint must conform to I.R.C.P. 8(a)(1)(2) a short plain statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief. "The purpose of the complaint is to give defendant information of all material facts on which plaintiff relies to support his demand, which facts may be stated only in ordinary and concise language." (Fox v. Cosgulf; 64 Idaho 448, 133 P.2d 930 (1943). "The prayer of a complaint is nothing more than a statement of the pleader's opinion of what the facts stated in the complaint entitles him to receive." (Smith v. Radna, 31 Idaho 423, 173 P. 970 (1918). This is because, "Prayer for relief forms no part of statement of cause of action; facts alleged and not relief demanded are of chief importance." (Dahlquist v. Mattson, 48 Idaho 378, 233 P. 883 (1925).

JV's Answer to First Amended Complaint, Counterclaim and Cross-Claim, in paragraph 61 alleged its Mortgage recorded June 19, 2006, is first in time/first in right by Idaho's statutory race-notice recording acts, and in paragraph 62, that the interest of the Bank by its recorded Mortgage is inferior to the recorded mortgage of JV. (R., Vol. I, p. 191, paras 61 and 63).

In summary, neither the Bank's First Amended Complaint, nor the Answer/counterclaim by JV allege any <u>facts</u> about or the wording "Subordination Agreement". The Subordination Agreement was outside of the factual pleadings of either the Bank or JV; however the Court denied JV's motion for judgment on the pleadings, stating that "The Court has not considered any matters outside the pleadings." (Order Denying Motion, R. Vol IV, p. 928). Without any alleged <u>facts</u>, other than the respective mortgage recording dates, i.e., Bank on August 6, 2008, and JV on June 19, 2006. The District Court should have granted JV's Motion for Judgment on the Pleading.

The Court erred in failing to grant <u>JV's Motion for</u> Judgment on the Pleadings.

The Court stated that it considered only the pleadings however the pleadings being admitted as true were that the Bank's Mortgage of August 6, 2008, was recorded subsequent to JV's Mortgage recorded June 19, 2006. There is no factual basis alleged to the contrary.

II. THE DISTRICT JUDGE'S GRANT OF PARTIAL SUMMARY
JUDGMENT FOR THE BANK AS TO PRIORITY BASED ON THE
SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT, WAS NOT BASED ON
UNDISPUTED ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT, AND THE BANK
WAS NOT ENTITLED TO JUDGMENT AS A MATTER OF LAW,
SO THE DISTRICT JUDGE ERRED.

Based on the standards for granting a summary judgment it was an error by the District Court. The District Court accurately set forth the LEGAL STANDARDS, but erred in applying them to the facts and law. The Bank argued that

its Mortgage (2008) was superior in priority to JV's

Mortgage (2006) because of a Subordination Agreement

(recorded August 6, 2008). (See, Subordination Agreement, R.

Vol IV, pp. 952-958).

JV asserted that the Subordination Agreement was not binding on JV based on the Affidavit of James W. Berry, his Affidavit testimony (R., Vol. VI, pp. 1234-1236) is, as follows:

- para 5 the Bank gave no consideration for its 2008
 Mortgage.
- para 6 JV had no contract or agreement with the Bank.
- para 7 The Bank never presented the Subordination
 Agreement to JV.
- para 8 The owner, POBD, through Charles Reeves,
 manager, contacted Berry about August 1, 2008, and told him
 POBD had managed to arrange a \$5.0 million loan from a bank,
 and the funds would be used to finish platting and building
 improvements, Condominiums and Townhouses, at Trestle Creek.
- para 9 Reeves told Berry that in order to receive the \$5.0 million for those purposes, JV would need to subordinate its Mortgage to a new mortgage. It was not disclosed that POBD, in 2007, had already borrowed and received the \$5.0 million from the Bank, and that the money was already spent. Reeves did not disclose that there would actually be no money coming to POBD for platting or

construction use at Trestle Creek.

para 10 - Reeves told Berry that the \$5.0 million loan from the Bank would be spent on Trestle Creek for improvements and construction that would enhance the value of the real estate securing JV's Mortgage by at least the \$5.0 million.

para 11 - Reeves promised that the new Bank loan would be used to build Condominiums or Townhouses to be sold, and that POBD would pay JV for partial releases of JV's Mortgage.

para 12 - The \$5.0 million to POBD from the Bank would increase the value of JV's Mortgage security and would increase monetary payments by the partial releases as Condominiums and Townhouses were sold.

para 13 - JV did not know that the \$5.0 million loan from the Bank had already occurred in 2007.

para 14 - JV received nothing; no consideration for the Subordination Agreement, and the Subordination Agreement was obtained from JV on the fraudulent misrepresentations of Mr. Reeves.

para 17 - Reeve's representations to JV was that 83 Condo Units and 13 Townhouses would be built on the Trestle Creek property using the \$5.0 million to be borrowed from the Bank, and as POBD sold these, it agreed to pay JV, in addition to the regular monthly payments, for partial releases at \$20,000.00 per Condo Unit and \$20,000.00 per

Townhouse. The color copy drawings from Reeves given to Berry for platting Condominiums and Boat Storage, were attached to Berry's Affidavit.

para 18 - about the time of the Subordination

Agreement, August 1, 2008, POBD made no more payments to JV

on its note and mortgage, there were never any condominiums

or townhouses built, and POBD went into default on any

payment or performance to JV to date (15 July 2013). The

Bank did not file any Affidavit(s) contravening Berry's

Affidavit.

JV further submitted its Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, and attached four (4) different documents which were the Bank's records of the 2007 loan, the money disbursement from the Bank to POBD for \$4,500,000.00 on October 29, 2007, the Loan Agreement POBD/Bank October 29, 2007, personal guarantees from Merschel and from Bolby, and the October 29, 2007 Pledge Agreements whereby Merschel and Bolby each put up Pledged Collateral of deposit account no. 101435493 with the Bank limited to \$2,500,000.00, plus interest (by Merschel) (R., Vol VI, p. 1278)) and for Bolby deposit account no. 100065580 at the Bank - \$2,500,000.00. (R., Vol. Vi, p 1293).

The October 29, 2007 loan to POBD by the Bank, had no real estate security, but it had personal guarantees of Bolby and Merschel, and the Pledged Collateral accounts at

the Bank (\$2.5 million each) totaling \$5,000,000.00 posted as cash collateral.

The Bank did not file any motion, objection, or affidavit contesting Berry' Affidavit for JV. The hearing on the Bank's Motion was telephonically on July 29, 2013 and it is transcribed at Tr., Vol. 1, pp. 14-55. At the argument, JV's attorney pointed out that the Subordination Agreement was recorded by First American Title, a non-party to it. There was a place on the Subordination Agreement for signature of the Bank by Name: (Niraj Mahaharaj), Title: Senior Relationship Manager, but it was NOT signed for the Bank by Niraj Mahaharaj, or at all. (Subordination Agreement, R., Vol. 4, p. 954). The Subordination Agreement was only signed by JV, by its managers, and for POBD, by Charles Reeves, its President. The Bank's actual loan documents had no wording about getting a real estate mortgage or a Subordination Agreement - nowhere. The Bank's attorney, at argument admitted the loan documents do not use the word subordination. (Tr., Vol. 1, p 51).

The Bank, by Affidavit of Terrilyn S. Barron, as subsequent record keeper, furnished a Credit Authorization, Summary Purposes, last sentence saying,

"Portion of the proceeds will pay-off a \$2,000,000 private seller carryback note originating from the purchase of the subject property in June 2006" (It is in the record, R., Vol. V, p. 1035).

Obviously, that private loan originating from the purchase of the real estate at Trestle Creek is the June 19, 2006 first mortgage (\$2.65 million) to JV, granted by POBD at the date it acquired the Trestle Creek property, On the same page is "Description: Assignment of deposit totaling \$5,000M Chip Bolby MMA#100065580; \$2,500M, Thomas Merschel MMA#101435493; \$2,500M.

In other words, POBD was to use the 2007 Loan of \$5 million to pay-off \$2.0 to JV, which it did not do. The Bank being well secured with the collateral deposits totaling \$5 million.

District Court entered a Memorandum on Partial Summary Judgment Re: JV, LLC, and an Order Granting Partial Summary Judgment Re JV, LLC that the Bank's Mortgage recorded March 25, 2008 had priority over JV's Mortgage, recorded June 19, 2006. (R., Vol. VI, pp. 2342-1346)

The Court's Memorandum is the only "finding/conclusion" made by the Court, next to last paragraph:

"that a valid subrogation (sic) contract was entered into by which JV's mortgage was made inferior to UB's Mortgage."

(Memorandum - 4, R., Vol. VI, p. 1343)

The Court used the word "subrogation", but probably meant "subordination". JV submits there was no "contract" at all with the Bank - the Bank did not sign the Subordination Agreement. The District Court went on to find the Plaintiff (Bank) is clearly the beneficiary of the contract, which was

never raised by the Bank. The Subordination Agreement stated "Creditor agrees with FNB". JV is the creditor and FNB is the Bank as a contracting party, but FNB (Bank's) signature line is <u>blank - unsigned</u> at all, so there is no contract/agreement between the Bank and JV.

The Affidavit of James Berry stated that JV received no consideration, yet the District Judge found there was consideration, meaning he had to have weighed conflicting evidence to the contrary.

At the oral argument on the Bank's partial summary judgment motion, the Bank's Attorney John Miller during oral argument admitted, in reference to the Subordination Agreement, that there is a signature block for the Bank to sign, but the Bank was never presented the document to sign before it was recorded. (Tr., Vol 1, p. 23, 11.1-5).

JV's Affidavit of James Berry set forth elements of fraud defined as:

Fraud.

[25-28] "Fraud consists of '(1) a statement or a representation of fact; (2) its falsity; (3) its materiality; (4) the speaker's knowledge of its falsity; (5) the speaker's intent that there be reliance; (6) the hearer's ignorance of the falsity of the statement; (7) reliance by the hearer; (8) justifiable reliance; and (9) resultant injury.'"

Washington Federal Sav. V. Van Engelen 153 Idaho 648 at 657 (2012)

STANDARD ON SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION

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