### Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-23-2015

### Union Bank, N.A. v. JV L.L.C. Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42479

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

JV also argues that the Subordination Agreement was unenforceable because JV received no consideration to subordinate its lien. AOB at 20. The Subordination Agreement, however, explicitly outlines the consideration provided. As such, the trial court correctly found that the language of the Subordination Agreement itself is presumptive evidence of consideration. R.Vol.6 at 1343.

"An enforceable subordination agreement requires consideration to the holder of the subordinated lien." 4 Cal. Real Est. § 10:201. "A written instrument is presumptive evidence of a consideration." Cal. Civ. Code § 1614. Further, "[a] recital of consideration is prima facie evidence that a written contract is supported by a consideration." 14 Cal. Jur. 3d *Contracts* § 129; *Niederer v. Ferreira*, 234 Cal. Rptr. 779, 790 (App. 1987) ("The written guaranty containing the recital of consideration constituted a prima facie showing of consideration, and it was defendant's burden at trial to prove lack of consideration.").

As stated, the Subordination Agreement explicitly provides a recital of consideration: "For valuable consideration, receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, and in consideration of the loans, advances, discounts, renewals or extensions now or hereafter made by [Union Bank] to or for the account of [POBD] ('Borrower'), Creditor agrees with [Union Bank] as follows ...." Supp.R. at 86. It also provides that JV subordinates its lien "to the lien of the mortgage dated March 7, 2008" to secure Union Bank's loan of \$5 million, "the proceeds of which [POBD] has used to pay off the existing indebtedness of [POBD] . . . and/or to pay for the improvement and development of the property encumbered by" JV's lien. *Id.* at 87 (¶ 3).

Ignoring the express language of the Subordination Agreement, JV relies on the Affidavit of James Berry to show conflicting evidence as to a lack of consideration. AOB at 15, 20. According to Berry, "JV received nothing, no consideration for the Subordination Agreement." R.Vol.6 at 1235. Because the agreement was fully integrated, the trial court refused to consider this evidence. R.Vol.6 at 1342. That decision was also correct.

When a contract explicitly provides that it constitutes the complete agreement of the parties, the contract is fully integrated.<sup>8</sup> *Esbensen v. Userware Int'l, Inc.*, 14 Cal. Rptr. 2d 93, 96 (App. 1992). "To the extent a contract is integrated, the parol evidence rule precludes the admission of evidence of the parties' prior or contemporaneous oral statements to contradict the terms of the writing . . . ." Id.; see Cal. Civ. Code § 1625; Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1856. The parol evidence rule is "'based on the assumption that written evidence is more accurate than

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> "Whether a contract is integrated in a writing and, if so, the effects of integration are determined by the local law of the state selected" by the contractual choice of law. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 140; *see also Julius Castle Rest. Inc. v. Payne*, 157 Cal. Rptr. 3d 839, 850-51 (App. 2013) ("[t]he parol evidence rule is not an evidentiary rule" but is a rule that excludes evidence "because as a matter of law the agreement is the writing itself").

human memory' and 'the fear that fraud or unintentional invention by witnesses interested in the outcome of the litigation will mislead the finder of facts.'" *Julius Castle Rest. Inc. v. Payne*, 157 Cal. Rptr. 3d 839, 850 (App. 2013) (quoting *Masterson v. Sine*, 436 P.2d 561 (Cal. 1968)), *rev. denied* (Sept. 11, 2013).

The Subordination Agreement expressly provides that it is an integrated contract: "This Agreement [c]onstitutes the entire agreement and understanding between and among the parties hereto related to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes, all prior proposals, negotiations, agreements and understandings among the parties hereto with respect to such subject matter." Supp.R. at 86-93 (¶ 9). Because there is no dispute that the Subordination Agreement is a fully integrated contract, Berry's affidavit may not be used to determine the absence of consideration when such consideration is recited in the agreement itself.

As a result, the trial court did not err in finding consideration to support the Subordination Agreement. There was no genuine issue of material fact on the question of consideration, as the Subordination Agreement itself expressly details the consideration JV bargained for and received.

## 5. The affidavit of James Berry did not create a genuine issue of material fact as to fraud in the inducement by Union Bank.

Finally, JV argues that summary judgment was improper because Berry's affidavit created a genuine issue of material fact as to the existence of fraud. AOB at 20. Berry's affidavit asserted that Charles Reeves of POBD told JV that "POBD had arranged to borrow \$5.0 million from a bank, the funds to be used to finish platting the real estate at Trestle Creek and to build improvements, Condominiums and Townhouses." R.Vol.6 at 1233-34. Berry alleged that

Reeves represented that POBD would be receiving a new \$5 million loan and failed to represent "that POBD had already, in 2007, obtained the loan money of \$5.0 million form [*sic*] the Bank." *Id.* at 1234. Berry also alleged: "If JV had known the truth and facts that POBD was not going to receive \$5.0 million dollars on a new 2008 loan, JV would not have executed the Subordination Agreement at all." *Id.* at 1236.

After considering those allegations, the trial court noted that Berry's allegations were directly contradicted by the language of the Subordination Agreement. *Id.* ("The document clearly refers to past and future loans made earlier and to be made in the future by [Union Bank] ... to POBD."). But more importantly, the trial court concluded that JV failed to present a genuine issue of material fact on an issue of fraud that was relevant to the dispute between JV and Union Bank. R.Vol.6 at 1343. As the trial court observed, after detailing JV's allegations of misrepresentation, "JV does not argue fraud by [Union Bank], but fraud by the president of POBD. There is no showing of any fraud by [Union Bank].... Any such misconception by JV was not caused by any actions of [Union Bank]." *Id.* Again the trial court was correct.

JV alleges fraud in the inducement, which occurs when the promisor "is induced by fraud" to consent to the agreement.<sup>9</sup> *Julius Castle Rest.*, 157 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 851. A contract induced by fraud is voidable. *Id.* However, generally, a contract cannot be set aside because of the fraud of a third person when the other party to the contract was not implicated in the fraud.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The law chosen by the parties applies to the formalities required to enter into a valid contract and the effect of alleged misrepresentation upon a contract. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws §§ 198-201 (1971).

17A C.J.S. *Contracts* § 208 ("In other words, the representation must be made by the other party to the contract, or by his or her agent, or with his or her command or consent, or must be subsequently ratified by him or her."); *see also* Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 164 (1981) (if a party's manifestation of assent is induced by misrepresentation, the contract is voidable by the recipient, unless the other party to the transaction in good faith and without reason to know of misrepresentation relies materially on the transaction).

Thus, the alleged fraudulent representation made by POBD inducing JV to subordinate its lien to Union Bank does not render JV's promise voidable if Union Bank relied on JV's promise to subordinate. Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 164. In *Gill v. Rich*, 28 Cal. Rptr. 3d 52, 60 (App. 2005), the court explained that while a party to a contract may be able to rescind the contract based on fraud in the inducement, there can be no rescission when the rights of third parties would be prejudiced. As to those parties innocent of the fraud, the defrauded party does not have a right to recession, but may seek redress in a separate action against those responsible for the fraud. *Id.* at 60-61.

Whatever the merits of JV's fraudulent inducement claim may be against POBD, it is not a valid defense against Union Bank's enforcement of the Subordination Agreement. It is undisputed that at "no time involving this action" did Union Bank communicate with JV regarding the Subordination Agreement. R.Vol.6 at 1233. Rather, JV relies solely on evidence that it was contacted by Reeves of POBD, and all allegations of misrepresentation are directed at what Reeves communicated to JV. *See id.* at 1233-34. Further, JV presented no evidence that Union Bank knew that such fraud was the inducement to the contract. It is also undisputed that Union Bank relied on the Subordination Agreement. R.Vol.5 at 1026-57. Union Bank's 2008 note and mortgage "would not have been granted without the first position security interest on the real property collateral being promised." *Id.* at 1030. Indeed, Union Bank's records reflect that the 2008 note required a first priority interest in the property. *Id.* at 1030,1035-38. Without reason to know about the fraudulent representations made by POBD, with no evidence that Union Bank knew of the fraudulent misrepresentations made by POBD, and with undisputed evidence that Union Bank relied on the Subordination Agreement, the trial court properly concluded that fraudulent inducement was not a valid defense to enforcement of the Subordination Agreement as to Union Bank.

## C. The trial court properly denied JV's motion for reconsideration because JV's new evidence failed to create a genuine issue of material fact on fraudulent inducement.

JV next argues that the trial court erred in denying its motion for reconsideration. AOB at 23-30. As with its arguments that the trial court erred when it granted summary judgment to Union Bank, JV again cites no legal authority to support its argument; thus it has waived this issues on appeal. *See Bach*, 148 Idaho at 790, 229 P.3d at 1152; I.A.R. 35(a)(6). But even if JV's argument can be heard, the trial court properly denied JV's motion for reconsideration. As with JV's evidence on summary judgment, its new evidence on reconsideration failed to raise an issue of fact as to the validity of the Subordination Agreement.

On reconsideration, JV filed two exhibits. R.Vol.6 at 1361-88. The first was the Third Amendment to Indebtedness and to Real Estate Security, and Subordination Agreement (Third Amendment). *Id.* at 1380-85. The second attachment contained three emails between counsel

for JV and counsel for POBD regarding the Subordination Agreement. *Id.* at 1386-88. Union Bank objected to the new evidence. R.Vol.7 at 1472-73; Supp.R. at 140-47. In the trial court's decision denying reconsideration, the trial court considered the Third Amendment but did not admit or consider the three emails. R.Vol.7 at 1479-85.

"A motion for reconsideration is a motion which allows the court—when new law is applied to previously presented facts, when new facts are applied to previously presented law, or any combination thereof—to reconsider the correctness of an interlocutory order." *Johnson v. N. Idaho Coll.*, 153 Idaho 58, 62, 278 P.3d 928, 932 (2012). As noted, because the trial court granted summary judgment and denied reconsideration, the issue is whether the evidence presented a genuine issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment. *Shea*, 156 Idaho at 545, 328 P.3d at 525. The new evidence presented by JV did not create such issues of material fact.

In particular, the Third Amendment was an agreement between JV and POBD, recorded on June 25, 2008. R.Vol.6 at 1380-85. According to the agreement, JV agreed to subordinate its mortgage on the Trestle Creek property: "On the TRESTLE CREEK property the present first lien priority of J.V., LLC shall be subordinate and inferior to a new first lien priority of no more than \$5,000,000." R.Vol.6 at 1382. Thus, it was not surprising that the trial court found the agreement added support to its reasoning on summary judgment, as it showed that POBD received \$30,000 from POBD for agreeing to subordinate its lien. R.Vol.6 at 1380-82. As for the three emails JV presented, the trial court excluded them as parol evidence.<sup>10</sup> R.Vol.7 at 1479. On appeal, JV contends that the three emails establish an issue of fact as to the issue of fraudulent inducement by POBD. AOB at 23-26. However, even if the trial court erred in excluding the emails, they still do not show any evidence of fraud on Union Bank's part or show a genuine issue of material fact that can defeat summary judgment. *See* R.Vol.7 at 1482.

That is because the emails did not involve Union Bank but were communications between counsel for JV, Gary Finney, and counsel for POBD, Bill Sterling. R.Vol.6 at 1386-88. JV alleges that these emails evidence fraud in the inducement; however, the emails contain no representations on behalf of, or on the part of, Union Bank. *Id.* The emails support the trial court's finding that POBD was the only party making representations to JV regarding the Subordination Agreement. *Compare* R.Vol.6 at 1232-39 *with* R.Vol.6 at 1386-88.

In other words, the trial court's decision to exclude the emails was harmless. Pursuant to I.R.C.P. 61, no error in the exclusion of evidence, or error in ruling, is ground for disturbing an order "unless refusal to take such action appears to the court inconsistent with substantial justice." "A substantial right is one that potentially affects the outcome of the litigation and the burden of showing a prejudicial error rests with the appellant." *Fonseca v. Corral Agric., Inc.*,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> While in general parol evidence "prohibits the introduction of any extrinsic evidence to alter, vary, or add to the terms of an integrated written agreement," parol evidence is admissible to show fraud, even when such evidence is in direct contradiction to the language of the agreement. *Julius Castle Rest.*, 157 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 850-51; *see* Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1856(f), (g); *Riverisland Cold Storage, Inc. v. Fresno-Madera Prod. Credit Ass 'n*, 151 Cal. Rptr. 3d 93, 101 (App. 2013).

156 Idaho 142, 149, 321 P.3d 692, 699 (2014), *abrogated on other grounds by Sims v. Jacobson*, 157 Idaho 980, 342 P.3d 907, 914 (2015).

Harmless error also applies to the exclusion or admission of parol evidence. *See Rogers v. Hendrix*, 92 Idaho 141, 146, 438 P.2d 653, 658 (1968) (noting that admission of evidence in violation of parol evidence rule was harmless under the circumstances). Error is harmless when evidence is excluded if the party presented other evidence to the issue. *Bailey v. Sanford*, 139 Idaho 744, 750, 86 P.3d 458, 464 (2004) ("Excluding Quilantin's testimony did not affect Sanford's substantial rights because Sanford presented other direct evidence and Quilantin's testimony."). The exclusion of evidence is also harmless if admission of such evidence would not have changed the result. *Spongberg v. First Nat'l Bank*, 15 Idaho 671, 99 P. 712 (1909).

The excluded emails did not affect JV's substantial rights because JV had already presented other evidence—the Berry affidavit—as to the assertions made by POBD to JV prior to the Subordination Agreement. The emails were merely cumulative of Berry's testimony. And more importantly, even if the trial court considered the emails, JV has not shown that the result on reconsideration would be different. These emails present no evidence that Union Bank knew of the representations made by POBD, much less condoned these assertions.

As a result, JV failed to present a genuine issue of material fact as to its defense of fraudulent inducement. Because the evidence presented did not create a factual issue to defeat summary judgment, the trial court properly denied JV's motion for reconsideration.

# **D.** The trial court did not abuse its discretion by limiting discovery of the settlement agreement entered into by Union Bank and POBD.

After the trial court affirmed summary judgment in favor Union Bank, JV moved to compel a global settlement agreement reached by Union Bank and POBD. R.Vol.7 at 1504-20. After Union Bank moved for a protective order, Supp.R. at 148-63, the trial court reviewed *in camera* a redacted and non-redacted version of the settlement agreement. Based on its review, the trial court ordered Union Bank to "provide a redacted copy" of the agreement to JV but that the copy should be maintained as a confidential document. *Id.* at 1522, 1539-40. By doing so, the trial court granted JV's motion to compel discovery in part and also granted Union Bank's motion for a protective order.

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